
 
 

MINUTES 
BERRYVILLE TOWN COUNCIL 

Tuesday, May 13, 2014 
Berryville-Clarke County Government Center 

Regular Meeting 
7:30 p.m. 

 
Town Council:  
Present: Wilson Kirby, Mayor; Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder; Allen Kitselman; Mary 
Daniel; David Tollett  
Absent: Douglas Shaffer 
Staff: Keith Dalton, Town Manager; Desiree Moreland; Assistant Town 
Manager/Treasurer; Christy Dunkle, Assistant Town Manager/Planner; Neal White, 
Chief of Police; Celeste Heath, Town Clerk 
Press:  Val Van Meter, Winchester Star 
 
1. Call to Order: Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
Mayor Kirby called the regular meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Public Hearings 
Mayor Kirby opened the following Public Hearing at 7:30 p.m.: 
Proposed Fiscal Year 2014-2015 Budget as follows: 

 APPROVED  DRAFT 
Resources and Revenues FY 13-14 FY 14-15 
   
GENERAL FUND   
Fund Balance  $               704,806.45   $               386,940.60  
Revenue from Local Sources  $            1,700,250.00   $            1,923,450.00  
Revenue from State Sources  $               895,968.00   $               905,968.00  
Total   $            3,301,024.45   $            3,216,358.60  
   
WATER FUND   
Fund Balance  $                 33,283.75   $                            -    
Revenue from Local Sources  $               710,100.00   $               790,725.00  
Availability Fees  $                 11,150.00   $                 26,250.00  
Total  $               754,533.75   $               816,975.00  
   
SEWER FUND   
Fund Balance  $                 74,406.75   $                            -    
Revenue from Local Sources  $            1,554,100.00   $            1,494,100.00  
Availability Fees  $                 45,500.00   $               113,750.00  
Revenue from WQIF Grant  $               500,000.00   $                            -    
Revenue from VRA Loan  $               500,000.00   $                            -    
Total  $            2,674,006.75   $            1,607,850.00  
   
TOTAL RESOURCES AND 
REVENUES  $            6,729,564.95   $            5,641,183.60  

1 
 



 
 

   
   
Expenses and Reserves   
   
GENERAL FUND   
Maintenance and Operational  $            2,905,857.00   $            2,863,510.00  
Debt Service  $               133,627.60   $               133,627.60  
Capital Reserves and Expenses  $               116,247.00   $                 76,045.50  
Contingency  $               145,292.85   $               143,175.50  
Total  $            3,301,024.45   $            3,216,358.60  
   
WATER FUND   
Maintenance and Operational  $               647,175.00   $               645,585.00  
Debt Service   
Capital Reserves and Expenses  $                 75,000.00   $               139,110.75  
Contingency  $                 32,358.75   $                 32,279.25  
Total  $               754,533.75   $               816,975.00  
   
SEWER FUND   
Maintenance and Operational  $            1,051,435.00   $               942,100.00  
Debt Service  $               470,000.00   $               470,000.00  
Capital Reserves and Expenses  $            1,100,000.00   $               148,645.00  
Contingency  $                 52,571.75   $                 47,105.00  
Total  $            2,674,006.75   $            1,607,850.00  
   
TOTAL EXPENSES AND RESERVES  $            6,729,564.95   $            5,641,183.60  

 
There was no public comment. Upon motion by Recorder Arnold, seconded by Council 
member Daniel the Public Hearing was closed at 7:32 p.m. 
 
4. Approval of Minutes 
April 8, 2014 
Upon motion by Recorder Arnold, seconded by Council member Kitselman, the minutes 
of the April 8, 2014 meeting were unanimously approved. 
 
5. Citizens Forum 
Kevin Rooney, 405 Cobbler Drive, said that he recently e-mailed the Town Manager 
about tenant/landlord rules. He spoke about a neighbor’s problem with a landlord 
regarding a water leak. He said he spoke to the County Building Official about the matter 
and was informed that he could not take action since the Town has not adopted State 
Code regarding this issue. He said that the Town Manager mentioned that there are costs 
involved in adopting this Code and asked why the Town couldn’t adopt their own rules. 
 
Mr. Rooney then spoke about fluoride in the Town’s water stating that he asked Mr. 
Tyrrell if there is a doctor or dentist on the committee approving this and if not it is 
forced medication of citizens. He said that if he were going to drop something into the 
water he would be prosecuted and that citizens should have a choice. 

2 
 



 
 

Mr. Dalton said that he talked to the County Building Official about the Property 
Maintenance Code after he received Mr. Rooney’s e-mail. He said that the Building 
Official is new and is still in training but he thought that towns with populations under 
5,000 are not authorized to adopt Volume 2 of the Code. He said that he is awaiting 
confirmation of this fact. He noted that there would be cost involved with adoption and 
enforcement of this Code including significant staff cost. He said that this doesn’t mean 
that the Property Maintenance Code should not be considered but that we should be 
aware of the cost. 
 
Bryant Condrey, 203 West Main Street, said he was appearing before Council to talk 
about the chicken issue. He said that he agrees that the initial draft of a code got really 
bloated, complex and confusing. He said that he thought that it would increase 
complaints and decrease compliance. He said that some Council members were not in 
favor of moving forward on the issue because they had not heard from many people who 
were in favor of it. He then discussed an online petition in support of allowing chickens 
in Berryville stating that 37 Berryville residents and 21 Clarke County residents have 
signed it. He read the text of the online petition: 
 
We, the citizens of Berryville, Virginia, petition the Council of Berryville to lift the ban 
on chicken hens. We affirm that every residence in Berryville should not be prohibited 
from keeping at least 5 chicken hens. We accept that the town may have an interest in not 
allowing roosters. We affirm that it is the responsibility of the owner of the chickens to 
care for the chickens properly just as the owner would care for a dog, cat, or other animal 
under the owner's care. We affirm that it is the responsibility of the owner of the chickens 
to keep them on the owner's property. We affirm that a permit for such a limited number 
of hens should not be required. A permitting process would serve no purpose but to add 
unnecessary bureaucracy and unnecessary work for Town staff. 
 
Mr. Condrey said that the second objection to moving forward was the cost of a public 
hearing. He said that since a public hearing is not required the Town Council should 
move forward without one and instead post notices on Facebook and in water bills. He 
suggested that the Town Council move forward with a simple code and an inexpensive 
public hearing. 
 
6. Report of the Mayor 
Cooperation with Clarke County on Economic Development Matters 
The Mayor said that at last month’s meeting, John Staelin from the Clarke County Board 
of Supervisors discussed the idea of the Town and County entering into a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) concerning Economic Development. At that time, Mr. Staelin 
suggested that the Town Council and the County Board of Supervisors each appoint one 
elected official and one staff person to a committee that would develop the MOU. 
Recorder Arnold then agreed to serve on the committee along with Ms. Dunkle.  
 
Upon motion by Council member Tollett, seconded by Council member Daniel the 
Council of the Town of Berryville appointed Recorder Arnold and Christy Dunkle to a 
committee with a member of the Board of Supervisors and a member of County staff to 

3 
 



 
 

formulate a Memorandum of Understanding between the Town of Berryville and the 
County of Clarke regarding cooperation in economic development efforts. The Council of 
the Town of Berryville further moved that the Memorandum of Understanding created by 
this committee shall be forwarded to both the Town Council and the Board of 
Supervisors for review and approval. 
VOTE: 
Recorded Vote: 
Ayes:     Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder 

Allen Kitselman 
David Tollett 
Mary Daniel 

Nays:     None 
Absent:    Douglas Shaffer 
Abstain:    None 
 
Barns of Rose Hill Request 
The Mayor spoke about the Barns of Rose Hill’s request for waiver of the rental fee for 
the Smithy House that was presented by Diana Kincannon at the last Town Council 
meeting. He said that he personally feels that we have put a significant amount of money 
into the house to make it suitable for a tenant and that Town crews mow and maintain the 
grounds of the house so the Town Council should not waive the entire amount. 
 
Council member Daniel said that she is a big fan of the Barns of Rose Hill and that she 
likes their Strategic Plan and believes that they have been fiscally responsible. She said 
that after voting at last month’s meeting to raise the Real Estate tax and the Meals tax she 
has a hard time waiving the rent at this time. 
 
Recorder Arnold said that when the renovation work was done on the house, a rent was 
established and the property could have been rented to another tenant. He said that he is 
not in favor of waiving the rent. 
 
Council member Kitselman said that the Barns of Rose Hill is admirably trying to create 
an endowment but agreed that after raising taxes it is hard to waive the rent. He suggested 
that the Town Council could donate $1500 toward the endowment and not specifically 
link it to the rent. He said he wishes that the Town Council could waive the rent for a 
year. 
 
Recorder Arnold said that he is not inclined to make a donation at this time but feels like 
the Barns is on the right fiscal track. He said that he is concerned that there may be an 
emergency repair needed on the property and suggested waiting until 6 months into the 
year to see what the expenses for maintaining the house are before contemplating a 
donation.  
 
Council member Daniel said that the members of the Town Council all individually 
support the Barns and that she is very impressed with their plan to create an endowment. 

4 
 



 
 

She said that they are great caretakers of an asset that the Town owns. Mayor Kirby said 
that the Town has other rental properties and would be concerned that waiving this rent 
would set a precedent for other tenants. 
 
Upon motion by Recorder Arnold, seconded by Council Member Daniel the Council of 
the Town of Berryville denied the request to waive the rent on the Smithy House. 
VOTE: 
Recorded Vote: 
Ayes:     Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder 

David Tollett 
Mary Daniel 

Nays:     Allen Kitselman 
Absent:    Douglas Shaffer 
Abstain:    None 
 
7. Report of the Town Manager 
Street Work Priorities FY14 
Mr. Dalton reported on street work that has been completed. He then outlined ongoing 
street projects and also spoke about previous and upcoming work on Mosby Boulevard. 
He said that the Town has purchased a machine that can seal road cracks and that it will 
be utilized on Mosby Boulevard as well as in other areas. 
 
Mr. Dalton then gave the Town Council and update about Jack Enders Boulevard. He 
said that he is currently having a conversation with the County, who are the developers of 
the project, about reviewing and completing their punch list. He said that staff is hesitant 
to spend a great deal of money paving the public portion of the road before the County 
completes their work because the County’s work will involve heavy truck traffic. 
 
Mr. Dalton said that there has been some discussion about the sale and subsequent 
development of the property at the end of Battletown Drive which would result in more 
traffic.  
 
He said that Public Works is doing three water projects to upgrade the size of the lines on 
Dorsey and Rice Streets and Battletown Drive in advance of VDOT paving Main Street. 
He said that Public Works is working on Battletown Drive now and would like to extend 
the upgraded line to Bel Voi farm and get a fire hydrant there. 
 
He said that Academy Street between Church and Buckmarsh Streets took quite a beating 
this winter and could use some work. He said that he spoke to the Postmistress today and 
it appears that Sunday would be the least disruptive day for the work to take place. 
 
He then asked the Town Council to authorize the Streets and Utilities Committee to work 
with staff to re-prioritize the FY14 Street Work Priorities to take these and other street 
issues into consideration. 
 

5 
 



 
 

Upon motion by Council member Tollett, seconded by Council Member Kitselman the 
Council of the Town of Berryville unanimously authorized the Streets and Utilities 
Committee to work with staff to re-prioritize the FY14 Street Work Priorities. 
 
VOTE: 
Recorded Vote: 
Ayes:     Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder 

Allen Kitselman 
David Tollett 
Mary Daniel 

Nays:     None 
Absent:    Douglas Shaffer 
Abstain:    None 
 
Refuse and Recycling Collection Contract 
Mr. Dalton reported that the Town of Berryville has utilized Republic Services Inc. since 
July 1, 2008 for collection of refuse and recycling. He said that the current contract 
provided for an initial three-year term and up to three one-year extensions. He said that 
the Town Council exercised the extensions with the last extension expiring on June 30, 
2014. 
 
Mr. Dalton said that an Invitation for Bids was issued for refuse and recycling collection 
and that two bids were received. He presented the bid tabulation and the proposed 
contract to the Town Council. He said that Republic Services, Inc. was the low bidder 
and that staff has reviewed the bid submissions and recommends that the Town Council 
authorize the Town Manager to execute the contract and other necessary instruments with 
Republic Services, Inc. He noted that the contract provides for an initial term of three 
years and up to three one-year extensions. 
 
Council member Daniel asked why the numbers we used for budget planning were higher 
than the actual bid. Mr. Dalton said that he assumes it is because the company wanted to 
keep the contract. He said that staff had anticipated prices rising because of gas costs. 
 
Mr. Dalton said that staff does not receive many complaints about the service provided 
by Republic Services and that they have been very good to work with. Council member 
Daniel said that her personal experience is that the employees and drivers are courteous. 
She said that they have taken care of several complaints in Ward 3 that weren’t even their 
fault. 
 
Upon motion by Council member Daniel, seconded by Council Member Kitselman the 
Council of the Town of Berryville unanimously approved the attached contract 
(ATTACHMENT 1) with Republic Services Incorporated for refuse collection services 
and authorized Keith R. Dalton, Town Manager to sign the contract and other required 
documents related to the offering and the contract. 
VOTE: 

6 
 



 
 

Recorded Vote: 
Ayes:     Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder 

Allen Kitselman 
David Tollett 
Mary Daniel 

Nays:     None 
Absent:    Douglas Shaffer 
Abstain:    None 
 
Other 
Mr. Dalton said that he found out yesterday that VDOT will be paving Main Street in 
early June. He said that he will share more details when he gets them. There was a 
general discussion of these projects as well as other street issues including crosswalks.  
 
Mr. Dalton said that has talked to VDOT about the need to complete work on Buckmarsh 
Street. 
 
8. Planning and Zoning Matters 
Planner’s Report 
Ms. Dunkle reported that there was no Planning Commission meeting in April. She said 
that the BADA met and looked at modifications to sub areas and discussed undeveloped 
properties still in the County including the property at the end of Battletown Drive. 
 
9.  Standing Committee Reports 
a) BADA Liaison – Allen Kitselman 
The BADA met on April 23, 2014. 
 
b) Budget Finance / CIP – Jay Arnold 
Mr. Dalton said that action on the budget will take place at next month’s meeting. He said 
that with the lower cost for trash collection staff suggests that the remainder of the 
original appropriation number in the budget is put into contingency so the bottom line on 
the budget will remain the same. There was no objection from the Town Council on this 
matter. 
 
Council member Daniel asked Ms. Moreland if there were any changes to County 
assessment figures. Ms. Moreland said that there have been no changes. 
 
c) Community Improvements – Allen Kitselman 
Council member Kitselman reported that the Farmers Market is up and running, the 
Bike/Ped Plan Open House is May 15 and the CDBG grant meeting for Josephine Street 
will be on May 22. He said that a Tourism Committee meeting was held this afternoon 
and that the meeting was well attended and productive. Ms. Dunkle reported that the 
Appalachian Trail Community application will be handled by the Clarke County 
Recreation Plan Committee. 
 

7 
 



 
 

d) Planning Commission – Doug Shaffer 
Absent. 
 
e) Police and Security – Mary Daniel 
Council member Daniel reported that the Committee met on April 30 and continues to 
review the Town Code. She said the committee will meet again on July 2. 
Approval of Minutes 
Upon motion by Council member Tollett, seconded by Council Member Daniel the 
Minutes of the April 30, 2014 Police and Security Committee meeting were approved. 
 
f) Streets and Utilities – Wilson Kirby 
Mayor Kirby said that the committee will meet to address the street work priorities. 
 
g) Personnel/Appointments – Jay Arnold 
Approval of Minutes 
Upon motion by Recorder Arnold, seconded by Mayor Kirby the Minutes of the April 7, 
2014 Personnel Committee were approved. 
 
10. Other 
Memorial Day 
Mayor Kirby reported that a Memorial Day Service will take place at Rose Hill Park on 
May 25. 
 
Water Leak Adjustment Requests 
Mayor Kirby then reported on the Streets and Utilities Committee’s findings regarding 
several water and sewer adjustment requests. He said that the Committee found that in all 
three cases the leaks were within the owners’ jurisdictions, therefore the committee 
recommended upholding the Town Manager’s decision to not grant an adjustment. 
 
Upon motion by Recorder Arnold, seconded by Council Member Daniel the Council of 
the Town of Berryville accepted the Streets and Utilities Committee decision not to grant 
an adjustment for water leaks in the cases of the American Legion, Bettencourt and 
Fenton applications for adjustments. 
VOTE: 
Recorded Vote: 
Ayes:     Wilson Kirby, Mayor 
     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder 

Allen Kitselman 
David Tollett 
Mary Daniel 

Nays:     None 
Absent:    Douglas Shaffer 
Abstain:    None 
 
 
 

8 
 



 
 

11.  Adjourn 
Upon motion by Council member Daniel, seconded by Recorder Arnold and passed, the 
Council meeting was adjourned at 8:26 p.m. 
 

 
 

               
Wilson Kirby, Mayor     Harry Lee Arnold, Jr., Recorder  

9 
 
















































